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to uncover the selling away activity. 
Because selling away cases are litigated 
after the selling away activity bas 
come into the focused view of 20-20 
hindsight, the connection between 
slight information and the outside 
business activity can appear much 
more obvious than it would or could 
have been to the firm at the time the 
activity was occurring. As a result, in 
many cases jurors and arbitration panels 
unintentionally impose liability against 
firms using standards significantly lower 
than those discussed above. 

The authors find that many times 
firms are sued for outside business 
activities of associated persons where 
the firm has absolutely no knowledge of 
the activity. Sometimes, tbe associated 
person just did not understand that 
the activity was an outside business 
activity involving securities and did not 
understand the importance of reporting it 
to the firm and sometimes the associated 
person's selling away is a deliberate 
attempt to defraud. In some cases, firms 
are sued by "investors" who thought 
they were dealing with the firm, but in 
other cases, the investor knew the finn 
was not involved and sometimes, the 
claimants have even aided the associated 
person in affirmatively concealing the 
activity. 

As noted above, even FINRA has 
recognized that notwithstanding the 
very best supervisory and compliance 
policies, procedures and controls, firms 
will not detect all selling away activity. 
Even with the very best policies, 
procedures and controls, selling away 
claims can be very difficult to defend 
and liability is often wrongly imposed 
upon firms, partiCUlarly in arbitration, 
not because the claimant proved the 
elements of his or her case, but because 
the firm is the only deep pocket and 
the decision-maker feels a great deal of 
sympathy for the injured investor. This 
can occur even when the investor was 
never a customer of the broker-dealer. 

B. Regulatory Liability 
1. General. Unlike civil liability 

from private actions, there are additional 
theories in enforcement actions. 
Enforcement by the SEC, FINRA, or 
state regulatory agencies is not limited 
to the above vicarious liability theories, 
but also includes aiding and abetting 
and in the case of FINRA, failure to 

supervise. 
2. SEC. Exchange Act §§ 15(b)( 4)(E) 

and 15(b )(6) generally spell out 
the supervisory responsibility of 
broker-dealers and persons who 
may be supervisors. The Exchange 
Act indirectly mandates supervisory 
procedures by providing that the SEC 
may sanction a broker-dealer and its 
supervisory personnel, a broker-dealer 
or an associated person who has violated 
the securities laws, or who "has failed 
reasonably to supervise, with a view to 
preventing violations of the provision 
of such statutes, rules and regulations, 
another person who commits such a 
violation if such person is subject to 
his supervision." Subsection (E) further 
provides that no person shall be deemed 
to have failed reasonably to supervise 
any other person if: 

(i) there have been established 
procedures, and a system for applying 
such procedures, which would 
reasonably be expected to prevent and 
detect, insofar as practicable, any such 
violation by such person, and 

(ii) such person has reasonably 
discharged the duties and obligations 
incumbent upon him by reason of 
such procedures and systems without 
reasonable cause to believe that such 
procedures and systems were not being 
complied with.16 

3. FINRA. Although private litigants 
should not be entitled to pursue actions 
based directly upon them, FINRA itself 
can and does pursue regulatory actions 
based directly upon violations of its 
rules. In addition to pursuing violations 
of Rules 3030, 3040, and 3050, FINRA 
often pursues actions for violations 
of Conduct Rule 2110 (Standards of 
Commercial Honor and Principles of 
Trade) and Rule 2310 (Suitability) 
against registered representatives who 
engage in selling away. In these same 
cases, FINRA often pursues the firm, 
and in extreme cases, the individual 
charged with supervising the registered 
representative, for violations of Rule 
3010 and 3012 (Supervision) and/or 
Rule 3070 (Reporting Requirements). 

4. State Regulators. State securities 
departments or divisions generally have 
the independent authority to investigate 
and, where violations of state law 

(Conlinued on page 8) 
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have occurred, to issue temporary or 
pennanent cease and desist orders, 
suspensions, or monetary sanctions 
against individuals, broker-dealers, 
investment advisers, or others. State 
regulators often impose sanctions even 
where FINRA or the SEC have already 
acted to punish the wrongdoer or the 
finn. 
Conclusion 

Most disputes with customers are 
arbitrated. In rare cases, a claimant's 
attorney chooses to file a claim in state 
or federal court under common law or 
statutory securities law. Establishing 
liability requires in most selling 
away cases a showing of agency or 
of control person liability. Robust 
supervisory procedures with respect to 
outside business activities diminish the 
likelihood that a claimant can establish 
apparent agency and bolster a defense of 
good faith. However, even with the best 
procedures, outside business securities 
activities may occur and not be detected. 
If the procedures are reasonably 
adequate and reasonably enforced, the 
broker-dealer should have defenses 
under both federal and state law. 

Part 3 of this article, which will be 
published in the next issue of NSCP 
Currents, will discuss supervision and 
compliance procedures that may be used 
by finns. Such procedures and policies 
need to be specifically adapted to the 
particular finn's operations as explained 
in Part 3. 

1. The requirement of Rule 12101 applies to 
individual claims by customers. Rule 12204 
prohibits arbitration of class action claims unless 
under specific provisions a party has opted out 
or the class is not certified and under certain 
other conditions. Further, shareholder derivative 
actions will not be arbitrated under 12205. 
2. This mirrors FINRA Rule 0120(g) which 
defines customer by stating "the term 
'customer' shall not include a broker or dealer." 
3. The discussion of the case law and all of 
the interpretations is beyond the scope of this 
article. The court of appeals and district court 
cases herein are provided as an illustration 
of the wide scope given to the definition of 
"customer," and "business activities" of the 
member or associated person. 

4. Fleet Boston Robertson Stephens, Inc. II. 

Innovex, Inc., 264 F.3d 770, 772 (8th Cir. 2001) 
(holding that when the relationship between 
the parties is more tenuous, courts should 
determine if there is some form of business 
relationship that includes some brokerage or 
investment relationship between the parties); 
Oppenheimer & Co. II. Neidhardt, 56 F.3d 
352,357 (2d Cir. 1995); Wheat, First Sec., 
Inc. V. Green, 993 F.2d 814, 820 (11th Cir. 
1993) (recognizing that courts are guided by 
the notion that the term "customer" should 
not be too narrowly construed, nor should the 
definition upset the reasonable expectations of 
FINRA members). 
5. Herbert J. Sims & Co., Inc. II. Roven, 548 
F. Supp. 2d 759 (N.D. CA 2008); see also 
Brookstreet Securities Corp. II. Bristol Air, Inc., 
2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16784, at *23 (N.D.CA 
2002)(ruling that a customer relationship was 
not established when investors interacted 
only with their investment advisor, who 
maintained an account with the member firm, 
but was not an employee, agent or registered 
representative of the firm - even if the 
investment advisor would be a "customer" of 
the member firm). 
6. Id.; see also Bensadoun II. Jobe-Riat, 
316 F.3d 171 (200 Cir. 2003) (finding that, 
where investors pool funds and relinquish 
all investment authority to a third party who 
deals with a member firm, that third-party, not 
the investors, will normally be considered the 
"customer"). 
7. Malak V. Bear Stearns & Co., Inc., 2004 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1422 at *13 (S.D.N. Y. 
2004). 
8. Bensadoun II. Jobe-Riat, 316 F.3d at 178. 
9. John Hancock Life Insurance V. Wilson, 254 
F.3d 48, 59 (2d Cir. 2001); see also O.N. Equity 
Sales Company V. Thiers, 2008 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 3765 (D. AZ 2008) (finding an investor 
a "customer" of a member firm for purposes of 
compelling arbitration where she alleged she 
was induced to invest in a ponzi scheme by an 
associated person at the time the associated 
person worked for the member). The court in 
O.N. Equity Sales Company did recognize, 
however, that courts may require that the 
"customer" status be determined at the time of 
the events providing the basis for the alleged 
cause of action. 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3765 at 
11, tn. 5 (citing Wheat, First Securities, Inc. II. 

Green, 993 F.2d 814 (11th Cir. 1993). 
10. See Miller II. Flume, 139 F.3d 1130 (7th 
Cir. 1998) (focusing on the "in connection" 
language of the rule to hold that the rule's 
scope should be "quite broad"); First 
Montauk Securities Corp. II. Four Mile Ranch 

Development Company, Inc., 65 F. Supp. 2d 
1371 (S.D. FL 1999) (same); see also O.N. 
Equity Sales Company II. Thiers, 2008 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 3765 at *11 (D. AZ 2008) (finding 
that a ponzi scheme by an associated person 
constituted a business "activity" to subject the 
claim to arbitration). 
11. See Washington Square Securities, Inc. 
II. Aune, 385 F.3d 432 (4Ih Cir. 2004) (ruling 
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in favor or arbitration in a selling away case, 
recognizing that many courts interpret the rule 
broadly to encompass many activities of a 
member or associated person); John Hancock 
Ute Insurance II. Wilson, 254 F.3d 48, 59 (2d 
Cir. 2001) (holding that even where the investor 
had no account with the member, the sale of 
fraudulent promissory notes by an associated 
person constituted a sufficient "activity" of the 
associated person to compel arbitration). 
12. See Mutli-Financial Securities, Corp. V. 

King, 386 F.3d 1364, 1370 (11th Cir. 2004) 
(holding that a dispute that arises from 
a member's lack of supervision over its 
associated persons arises "in connection with 
its business"); Vestax Sees. Corp. II. McWood, 
280 F.3d 1078, 1082, 1081 (6th Cir. 2002); John 
Hancock Life Insurance II. Wilson, 254 F.3d 
48,58-59 (2d Cir. 2001) (same); MaNY Secs. 
Corp. II. Bomstein, 250 F. Supp. 2d 1352, 1357 
(M.D. Fla. 2003) (same); Hamor, Townsend & 
Kent, Inc. II. Hamilton, 218 F. Supp. 2d 1369, 
1384 (N.D. Ga. 2002) (same); First Montauk 
Secs. Corp. V. Four Mile Ranch Dell. Co., Inc., 
65 F. Supp. 2d 1371,1379 (S.D. Fla. 1999) 
(same). 
13. Exchange Act Section 20; 15 U.S.C. § 78t. 
14. Securities Act of 1933 Section 15; 15 
USCS § 770. 
15. Swensen V. Engelstad, 626 F.2d 421, Fed. 
Sec.L.Rep. (CCH) P97,639 (5th Cir. 1980). 
16. Exchange Act, Section 15(b)(4)(E); Section 
15(b)(6); 15 U.S.C. 78(0)(b)(4)(E) & (6). 
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